IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

M. BRIAN RAINES, As Administrator of The Estate of Michael C. Raines, Deceased,

Appellee,

Vs.

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00389 Appeal from Circuit Court of Leflore County No. 2002-0043CI

KITTLE HEAVY HAULING, INC.; CECIL HIGGERSON;

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS KITTLE HEAVY HAULING, INC. AND CECIL HIGGERSON

ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED

TODD B. MURRAH/MS
GLASSMAN, EDWARDS, WADE
& WYATT, P.C.
26 North Second St.
Memphis, TN 38103
(901) 527-4673
(901) 521-0941
File No. 02-232
Attorney of Appellants Kittle Heavy Hauling and Cecil Higgerson

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Appellants present the following issues for review:

i.

ŝ

ł

i

ļ

I. Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment on the issues of duty and proximate cause.

II. Whether the trial court erred in denying Defendants' Motions for Directed Verdict on the issue of duty.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Introduction and Procedural Posture

i

ŧ

i

This lawsuit arose from an accident that occurred at a staging area for a dredge project on the Yazoo River near Greenwood, Mississippi. (R. Supp. 12.) The dredge project was conducted in part by Inland Dredging Company (Inland). Inland hired Defendant Kittle Heavy Hauling (Kittle), the owner of a tractor truck and trailer, to transport Inland's dredge pipes from a location in Sardis, Mississippi to the staging area near Greenwood. Inland maintained responsibility for loading, securing and unloading the pipe, while Kittle was responsible for ensuring the load, once secured by Inland, was safely driven from the loading site to the unloading site. (R. Supp. 12, 38.)

Michael Raines, an employee of Inland, was fatally injured on October 31, 2001 when an Inland pipe situated upon the flatbed trailer fell while Mr. Raines and other Inland employees were beginning to unload the pipe from the trailer after it had safely arrived at the staging area. (R. 2); (R. Supp. 12.) Plaintiffs then sued Kittle and its driver, Cecil Higgerson, in negligence, alleging that Defendants' failure to ensure the load of pipes was safely loaded, secured and unloaded was the proximate cause of the death of Mr. Raines. (R. Supp. 23.)

Defendants moved for Summary Judgment on, among other things, the ground that Defendants had no duty under Mississippi law to ensure the subject pipes were properly secured for unloading when Kittle was simply hired to transport the load. (R. Supp. 145.) Although it made no specific findings of fact or conclusions of law, the trial court denied Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment because it found "genuine issues of material fact and that Summary Judgment would be inappropriate." (R. 145). The court below never ruled on Defendants' Mississippi Rule of Civil Procedure 56(d) Motion. (R. 146.) Defendants' Motion for Interlocutory Appeal was also denied. (R. 150.)

ŧ

The case was eventually tried before a jury. At the close of the Plaintiffs' case, Defendants moved for a directed verdict on the basis that Plaintiffs failed to establish that Mr. Higgerson and Kittle Heavy Hauling had a duty beyond ensuring the safe transport of the load. This Motion was denied, with the trial court ruling that "it's a jury question, so we'll proceed." (Tr. 364). Again, at the close of their own proof, Defendants renewed their motion on the same basis and it was again summarily denied. (Tr. 473.) Finally, after the jury instructions were finalized, and after the court refused any instruction regarding any duty on the part of the Defendants, Defendants argued that Plaintiffs were unable to establish any duty and again sought a dismissal. This Motion was also denied. (Tr. 516.) Defendants now seek review of the trial court's denial of their Motion for Summary Judgment, as well as the denials of their Motions for Directed Verdict.

Statement of Facts Relevant to Review of Ruling on Motion for Summary Judgment

On October 31, 2001, the date of the accident, Michael Raines was employed by Inland Dredging Company in Greenwood, Mississippi. (R. 2.) On the date of the accident, a tractor and trailer owned by Defendant Kittle was carrying plastic pipe which had been loaded by employees of Inland Dredging Company. (R. 102.) (R.Supp. 38) Kittle's involvement with the loading process was limited to the operation of a crane by an employee of Kittle which did nothing more than supply physical force to the pipes at the direction of Inland employees. (R. Supp. 38.) (R. 118.) (R. 102.) Employees of Inland placed 4x4 wooden beams, which were provided by Inland Dredging Company, beneath each layer of pipe placed on the trailer. (R. Supp. 38.) (R. 102.) Importantly, in opposition to Defendants' Motion, Plaintiffs did not dispute that Inland Dredging loaded the subject pipe onto the Kittle trailer, Inland Dredging provided and placed the 4 x 4 wooden beams beneath each layer of pipe placed on the trailer, and Inland Dredging secured each layer of pipe with straps attached to the trailer (R. Supp. 3.) (R. 102.)

ł

÷

ī

1

ı.

.

è

i.

ί.

ί

It was further undisputed that it was a custom and practice on each load that the chains, straps and supporting timbers be placed, secured, unsecured and unloaded by Inland Dredging Company employees. (R. Supp. 41.) (R. 111-115.) Employees of Inland Dredging Company secured each layer of pipe with straps attached to the trailer. (R. Supp. 38.) Employees of Inland Dredging Company also secured the entire group of pipes with a number of chains secured to each side of the trailer and passing over the top layer of pipes. The chains each included a ratchet binder for tightening and loosening the chains. This custom and practice was consistently followed including on the load of pipe which Michael Raines and the other Inland Dredging Company employees were unloading at the time of Mr. Raines' death. At the time of the accident, Inland Dredging did not have a policy that its pipe would be secured by chocks or blocks, secured to its wooden support timbers. (R. Supp. 38-42.) (R. 101-111.)

The Inland Dredging crew responsible for unloading the trailers at the unloading site consisted of Shannon Earby, Michael Raines, and Claude Thomas. (R. Supp. 41.) Inland employees were in charge of and solely responsible for unloading the pipes. (R. Supp. 41.) (R. 111-115.) Once the load arrived safely at the staging area in Greenwood, an employee of Inland Dredging Company positioned a track hoe on the passenger side of the trailer placing the bucket of the track hoe in close proximity to the pipe on the top most layer of the pipe, being that pipe most laterally disposed toward the passenger side of the trailer. (R. Supp. 39.) (R. 104-105.) The ratchet connectors previously described relative to the securing chains were positioned on the passenger side of the trailer. The track hoe bucket was positioned as described to ensure that

no pipe inadvertently rolled off the top of the trailer onto an employee while he was unratcheting the chains. After the track hoe was positioned as described, Shannon Earby, an Inland Dredging Company employee, began loosening the chains via use of the ratchet connector. (R. Supp. 38-42.) During this process, a pipe fell off on the driver's side, fatally injuring Mr. Raines. (R.Supp. 40.) (R. 110-111.)

The tractor and trailer were driven by Cecil Higgerson, an employee of Kittle Heavy Hauling. (R. Supp. 38.) At no time during this transport did the subject vehicle leave the State of Mississippi. (R.Supp. 43.) (R. 101.) The loading site and the unloading site were on private property not on any highway or other public road. The unloading site where the accident occurred was an open space in the middle of a farmer's cotton field. (R.Supp. 43.) The unloading site was accessed from one direction from a levy along the Yazoo River by a graded dirt pathway constructed exclusively for access to the unloading area. The unloading area had no other exit point and Inland Dredging personnel and their subcontractors had access to the cotton field only by contractual agreements with the landowner. (R. Supp. 38-43.)

Statement of Facts Relevant to Motions for Directed Verdict

a. Plaintiffs' case in chief.

1

.

,

i

1.

Plaintiffs' first witness was Wayne Kittle, president of Kittle Heavy Hauling. (Tr. 92.) Although Wayne Kittle was not present when the subject load was being loaded and he had never been present when pipes were being unloaded off of the trailer, (Tr. 97; 102), Mr. Kittle did testify without objection that Inland employees were the ones to strap and chain the pipes not only on the subject load, but that was in fact the customary practice for the entire two year relationship between Kittle Heavy Hauling and Inland Dredging. (Tr. 102-103). Mr. Kittle further testified that it was the Kittle driver's responsibility to ensure that the load was secure for

5

transport. (Tr. 103). Accordingly, although Mr. Wayne Kittle was not present at the loading site in Sardis, nor was he ever present at the unloading site, he did testify that it was the customary practice for Inland to secure the pipes at the loading site with chains and straps. No testimony from Wayne Kittle established that Kittle or Higgerson had a duty to protect Mr. Raines while unloading the trailer.

The next witness to testify in the Plaintiffs' case in chief was Troy Kittle. Troy Kittle was vice-president of the company at the time of the accident. (Tr. 118.) Troy Kittle testified that he was familiar with the rules, policies and procedures of Kittle Heavy Hauling in effect in October, 2001. (Tr. 119.) Troy Kittle testified that Kittle Heavy Hauling was hired by Inland Dredging to transport pipe from several different places including Sardis, Mississippi. (Id.) On the particular load in question, Cecil Higgerson, the Kittle driver, did not load or secure the load himself. (Tr. 124.) Troy Kittle specifically testified that chocks had nothing to do with the safety of the load during transport. (Tr. 124:11-17.) During Troy Kittle's testimony, the court refused to allow testimony on whether the driver had the responsibility to check the load to ensure that chocks were in place because it was improper testimony regarding the legal issue of duty. (Tr. 124.) Cecil Higgerson did not chain and unchain or load and unload this particular load or any of the loads. (Tr. 125.) Troy Kittle further testified that chocks were present at the loading site in Sardis and belonged to Inland Dredging. (Tr. 132.) Again, on cross examination, Troy Kittle confirmed that Inland Dredging was, by their own conduct, responsible for loading and securing the pipes on the trailer. (Tr. 132-133.) Troy Kittle further testified that Kittle's primary duty, based on the pattern of conduct and course of dealing between the parties, was to make sure that the load is safe for transport and not unloading and loading. (Tr. 133.) None of the testimony from Troy Kittle established that Kittle or Higgerson had a duty to protect Mr.

÷

i.

i

ŧ

6

Raines while he and the other members of the Inland Dredging crew were unloading the trailer.

ſ

,

ŝ

ι.

ļ

i.

i

The Plaintiff's next witness was Barry Locke, a supervisor and manager for Inland Dredging. (Tr. 135.) Although he was employed for Inland on October 31, 2001, he was not directly involved with the loading site at Sardis. (Tr. 136-137.) Rather, Mr. Locke was responsible for quality control and general supervision of the unloading site in Greenwood. (Id.) When asked whether it was the driver's responsibility to unbind and unsecure chains for a load like this, the trial court sustained an objection regarding the propriety of opinion testimony on the issue of duty. (Tr. 140.) Mr. Locke further testified that he was not present during any of the times when Kittle Hauling delivered loads to the unloading site in Greenwood prior to this particular incident. (Tr. 142.) Mr. Locke testified that he saw nothing that indicated to him that the load had shifted once it had arrived on the loading site and that no one had ever told him anything about the load shifting. (Tr. 150; 160-161.) In addition, Mr. Locke testified that Inland Dredging had written policies for loading and unloading pipe from a flatbed truck at the time of the accident. (Tr. 162.) Mr. Locke was not permitted to answer any questions regarding his opinion as to whether Kittle or Higgerson had a duty to ensure the load could be unloaded safely. None of the testimony from Barry Locke established that Kittle or Higgerson had a (Tr. 140.) duty to protect Mr. Raines while unloading the trailer.

Plaintiff's next witness was Victor Clay Betz. (Tr. 163.) Victor Betz was the crane operator that assisted in placing the pipes on the subject load. (Tr. 164.) Mr. Betts testified that his role in the process consisted simply of picking up something off the ground and placing it on the trailer with the crane. (Tr. 165.) Mr. Betz testified that he did nothing other than place the pipes on the trailer and that the ground crew was responsible for securing the load. (Tr. 166.) Mr. Betz further testified that he did not help put chains and binders on the pipes. (Tr. 166.)

Again, Mr. Betz confirmed that the ground crew took on that role. (Tr. 167.) Mr. Betz further testified that although there were Kittle drivers at the site Inland employees made up the ground crew who actually secured the loads. (Tr. 168.)

Importantly, Victor Betz testified that when he used the crane to place the Inland pipes on Kittle trailers, he was told how to do so by Inland Dredging employees because it was their pipe. (Tr. 169-170.) On cross examination, Victor Betz confirmed that the ground crew in charge of placing the timbers, straps and chains to secure the load was not made up of Kittle Heavy Hauling personnel. (Tr. 170-171.) He further confirmed that there would be no reason to doubt the fact that Inland Dredging people placed the timbers on Cecil Higgerson's truck and secured that load on Mr. Higgerson's truck with chains and straps. (Tr. 172.) None of the testimony form Victor Betz established that Kittle or Higgerson had a duty to protect Mr. Raines while unloading the trailer.

Plaintiff's next witness was Defendant Cecil Higgerson. (Tr. 186.) With respect to the loading and securing of the load, Mr. Higgerson testified that Inland Dredging employees placed the 4x4 timbers on the trailer at the Sardis location. (Tr. 193.) Mr. Higgerson further confirmed that he did not place the chains or the straps on the load. (Tr. 193.) Rather, the Inland Dredging ground crew was responsible for placing and did place the chains and straps on the pipes. (Tr. 194.) On cross examination, Mr. Higgerson confirmed that he did not participate in placing any timbers on the load. (Tr. 211.) Prior to departing Sardis for Greenwood, Mr. Higgerson checked the chains and the straps to make sure they were good and tight and in the proper place. (Tr. 194.) Mr. Higgerson further testified that he stopped twice to check on the stability of the load prior to his arrival in Greenwood. (Tr. 200.) He confirmed that neither time had the load shifted. (Tr. 201.)

£

1

8

Mr. Higgerson further testified that this particular load had standards placed on it and those standards were there to keep the pipe from falling to the ground during unloading. (Tr. 204-205.) He confirmed that these standards were placed on this particular load of pipes by Inland Dredging. (Tr. 204-205.) Mr. Higgerson further confirmed that the only involvement he had during the unloading process was to place the straps and chains in his truck once they were unsecured by the Inland Dredging crew. (Tr. 206.) Mr. Higgerson was sixty one years old at the time of the accident and Kittle did not bring a loading crew with them on the project nor did they bring an unloading crew. (Tr. 215.) He further testified that he had never witnessed any Kittle driver loading timbers or otherwise loading or securing loads at the Sardis site. (Tr. 215.) Mr. Higgerson did not provide any testimony upon which it could be inferred that Kittle assumed any duty to ensure the safe unloading of the subject pipes.

.

.

L

÷

è

Ł

Plaintiff's next witness was Collie Berry. Mr. Berry is the safety director for Inland Dredging. (Tr. 219.) Mr. Berry confirmed that Inland Dredging hired Kittle Heavy Hauling to deliver the subject load. (Tr. 222.) In addition, Mr. Berry stated that he had never been to an unloading site where this load or any similar load was being unloaded. (Id.) Mr. Berry confirmed that the pipe fell during the time that the Inland crew was removing the chains from the load. (Tr. 225.) Collie Berry did not provide any testimony upon which it could be inferred that Kittle assumed any duty to ensure the safe unloading of the subject pipes.

Plaintiff's next witness was Dr. Charles Benedict, an engineering expert. (Tr. 226, 237.) While Dr. Benedict testified about various physical aspects of load security, he was forbidden by the trial court from testifying on the issue of who had a legal responsibility for ensuring the security of a load during the unloading process. (Tr. 242-243.) While Dr. Benedict may have been permitted to testify about standard of care and industry custom, he was not permitted to

testify regarding the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations or who had a common law duty to ensure that the load would be secure for unloading. (Tr. 246.) Furthermore, during the testimony of Dr. Benedict, the court refused to permit any testimony regarding the Federal Motor Carrier Safety Regulations because the court thought that there would be a jury instruction on the law. (Tr. 247.) Based on the evidence permitted at trial, nothing in the testimony of Dr. Benedict could support a factual or legal conclusion that Kittle or Higgerson had any duty to protect Mr. Raines from the dangers associated with unloading the pipe.

The other remaining witnesses presented during Plaintiff's case in chief pertain to the issue of damages and are not relevant to the issues on appeal. At the close of the Plaintiffs' case, Defendants moved for a directed verdict on the basis that Plaintiffs failed to establish that Mr. Higgerson and Kittle Heavy Hauling had a duty beyond ensuring the safe transport of the load. This Motion was denied, with the trial court ruling that "it's a jury question, so we'll proceed." (Tr. 364.)

b. Defendants' case in chief.

1

T

e

e

i

i.

i

Defendants' first witness during its case in chief was Claude Thomas. (Tr. 368.) Claude Thomas was a member of Inland's unloading crew at the Greenwood site on October 31, 2001. (Tr. 369-370.) Claude Thomas confirmed that the unloading of the load was done by Inland Dredging employees and that Mr. Higgerson would simply roll the straps up and put them inside his truck once they were unsecured by the Inland crew. (Tr. 373; 376.) Mr. Thomas confirmed that Cecil Higgerson did not undo any straps on this load. (Tr. 378.) Furthermore, Claude Thomas testified that he never saw the Kittle driver telling people what to do at the unloading site. (Tr. 383.) The testimony of Claude Thomas indicates that neither Kittle nor Mr. Higgerson had any duty to ensure the load of pipes could be unloaded safely.

r

r

τ

i

ł

The next witness for the Defendants was Shannon Earby. (Tr. 388.) Shannon Earby was another member of the unloading crew at the Greenwood site. He indicated that when pipe was loaded, it was loaded and secured by Inland Dredging. (Tr. 391; 392.) However, Shannon Earby testified that he had no knowledge of how this particular truck was loaded because he was not at the Sardis site when it was loaded. (Tr. 414.) Importantly, on cross examination, Shannon Earby testified that Mr. Higgerson likely did not ever inspect the chains after the load arrived at the Greenwood site because Inland was hired to unsecure the load and unload the truck and that it was not the responsibility of the Kittle drivers, including Mr. Higgerson. (Tr. 416.) "None of the drivers helped us. I mean, other than them stowing away their straps and chains after we handed them to them. We were -I mean, that's what we were there for, was to unsecure loads and unload the truck." Id. This was the normal and routine customary practice between the Inland crew and the Kittle driver. (Tr. 417.) Finally, Mr. Earby testified that the unloading site in Greenwood was on a private farm and not on a road. (Tr. 419.) Mr. Earby confirms the consistent testimony of every witness that Kittle and Higgerson never undertook to secure the load such that it was safe for unloading because Inland Dredging took on that role.

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