IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2008-CA-00389

M. BRIAN RAINES, As Administrator of The Estate of Michael C. Raines, Deceased,

Appellee,

Vs.

Appeal from Circuit Court of Leflore County No. 2002-0043C1

KITTLE HEAVY HAULING, INC.; CECIL HIGGERSON,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Mr. Charles J. Swayze, Jr. MBN WHITTINGTON, BROCK & SWAYZE P.O. Box 941 Greenwood, MS 38935-0941 (662) 453-7325 E-Mail <u>cjs@whittingtonlaw.com</u>

Ms. Julia A. Beasley Mr. Navan Ward BEASLEY, ALLEN, CROW, METHVIN, PORTIS & MILES, P.C. 218 Commerce Street P.O. Box 4160 Montgomery, AL 36103-4160 (334) 269-2343

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

Defendants argue that the trial court erred when it denied summary judgment on causation because they contend that Michael Raines assumed the risk of his death by standing on the side of the truck that the pipe fell on. Mississippi law requires that this Court look with a "skeptical eye" at motions for summary judgments and should "err on the side of denying the motion." *Thomas v. Bradley*, 987 So. 2d 1020 ¶13 (Miss. App. 2008). The applicability of this Court's "skeptical eye" is especially relevant to this issue because the assumption of the risk doctrine has been subsumed into comparative negligence. *Churchill v. Pearl River Basin Dev. Distr.*, 757 So. 2d 940, 943 ¶12 (Miss. 1999). "[A]ssumption of the risk on the part of the plaintiff merely goes to the percentage of fault attributable to the plaintiff, <u>it no longer affords a complete defense to the defendant unless the jury finds that the plaintiff's assumption of the risk proportionately reduces damages to zero." *Donald v. Triple S. Well Service, Inc.*, 708 So. 2d 1318, 1325 ¶ 34 (Miss. 1998) (emphasis added).</u>

Any actions which might constitute an assumption of the risk should be dealt with only in the context of the comparative negligence doctrine. A jury is always free to decide that an act which constitutes an assumption of the risk was the sole proximate cause of a plaintiff's injuries. We see no reason why acts which might constitute assumption of the risk should, as a matter of law, create a complete bar to recovery. The comparative negligence doctrine gives juries great flexibility in reaching a verdict. Any fault on the part of the plaintiff should be considered only in the context of comparative negligence.

Churchill, 757 So. 2d at 943-944 ¶ 12 (emphasis added). Here, the trial court correctly denied summary judgment because, under Mississippi law, the assumption of the risk defense is "no longer a complete bar to recovery." *Id.* Mississippi law clearly mandated that the trial court

deny summary judgment because it is the jury's role to determine whether Michael Raines' actions were the sole cause of his death.

Further, even assuming that the law would allow the trial court to consider their argument, the Defendants failed to carry their burden of proof on the assumption of the risk. Assumption of the risk is an affirmative defense on which the Defendants bear the burden of proof. *Huffman v. Walker Jones Equip. Co.*, 685 So. 2d 871, 873 (Miss. 1995).

Assumption of the risk is measured by the subjective standard of the injured party. Also, it must be shown that the risk was known to the injured party and that the injured party appreciated the danger in the condition. Furthermore, the injured party's conduct must rise to a level of venturousness, as opposed to carelessness, with regards to appreciation of the known peril.

Huffman, 685 So.2d at 874 (citations omitted). In support of their assumption of the risk defense, Defendants rely solely upon the testimony of Michael Raines co-employees who said that Michael was aware that he should not be on the side of the truck that is opposite the side of the truck that the track hoe is placed. (Appellants' Br. at 25-26). Other evidence however demonstrated that Michael Raines had only been working at Inland for two weeks. At the time of the accident, Michael was collecting the chains and straps and handing them to Cecil Higgerson. (12/2/08 Supp. R. 35-36, 44-45.) Defendant Higgerson was on the same side of the truck that Michael was on. (12/2/08 Supp. R. 47.) This was normal procedure. (12/2/08 Supp. R. 122.) Cecil Higgerson admitted that, if the load had been properly secured, the pipe should not have fallen off the trailer after the binders and straps were removed. (12/2/08 Supp. R. 54.) Therefore, Michael Raines would have been safe standing on the driver's side of the truck if the Defendants had properly secured the load. Further, the evidence was undisputed that, had the chocks been placed on the load of pipes, no pipe would have fallen off the trailer and Michael Raines would not have fallen off the trailer and Michael Raines would not have been killed. (12/2/08 Supp. R. 61-63, 99, 110.)

21

Causation, like duty, involves questions of foreseeabililty. *Rein*, 865 So. 2d at 1143 ¶¶ 30-31. "Unlike duty, causation is a question of fact." *Doe v. Wright Security Services*, 950 So. 2d at 1085 ¶37. "When reasonable minds might differ on the matter, questions of proximate cause and of contributory negligence are generally for determination of the jury. . . . Foreseeability and breach of duty are also issues to be decided by the finder of fact once sufficient evidence is presented in a negligence case." *Hankins Lumber Co.*, 774 So. 2d at 464 ¶11. There was substantial evidence presented that the Defendants knew that the failure to chock the load of pipes was dangerous. There was simply no error in the trial court's denial of summary judgment on causation and assumption of the risk.³

II. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR WHEN IT DENIED THE DEFENDANTS' MOTION FOR DIRECTED VERDICT BECAUSE THE PLAINTIFFS PUT FORTH SUBSTANTIAL EVIDENCE IN WHICH A JURY COULD FIND THAT THE DEFENDANTS OWED THE PLAINTIFFS A DUTY AND THERE WAS A BREACH OF THAT DUTY THAT RESULTED IN THE DEATH OF MICHAEL RAINES.

A. Standard of Review for Denial of Directed Verdict.

A motion for a directed verdict is a test of the legal sufficiency of the Plaintiffs' evidence. "In ruling on a motion for a directed verdict, the trial court must look only to the testimony adduced for the plaintiff and afford truthfulness to it and indulge all favorable inferences that could be drawn therefrom, and if either is sufficient to support a verdict, then the motion for a directed verdict should be overruled." *Gee v. Hawkins*, 402 So. 2d 825, 827-28 (Miss. 1981) (quoting *King v. Dudley*, 286 So. 2d 814 (Miss. 1973). "The circuit court – and this Court on appeal – are required to consider the evidence in the light most favorable to the plaintiffs . . . giving those plaintiffs the benefit of all favorable inferences that may reasonably be drawn from

Ł

³ Interestingly, the Defendants did not even raise the issues of causation and assumption of the risk in their directed verdict at the trial of the case.

the evidence. Unless the evidence is so lacking that no reasonable jury could find for the plaintiffs, the motion must be denied." *Wall v. Swilley*, 562 So.2d 1252, 1256 (Miss. 1990).

B. Plaintiffs Presented Overwhelming Evidence On The Issue Of Duty Which Required The Trial Court To Deny The Defendants' Motion For Directed Verdict.

Defendants contend that they were entitled to a directed verdict because the Plaintiffs failed to present substantial evidence of a legal duty that the Defendants owed to Michael Raines. The Defendants make the same arguments and cite to the same law that they relied upon at the summary judgment stage. To avoid being redundant, the Plaintiffs would simply refer this Court to the "Argument" section I, B of this brief, which sets forth the law regarding the legal duty owed to Michael Raines and, just as it did at the summary judgment stage, the Defendants' argument still lacks merit at this stage, too.

The record is clear that the Plaintiffs presented overwhelming evidence to the jury that the Defendants owed Michael Raines a duty to ensure that the load of pipes was properly secured on the Defendants' trailer; that the Defendants breached that duty; and as a result, a pipe fell off the truck and killed Michael Raines. The evidence demonstrated that, at the time of this accident, Kittle Hauling's company policy was to use chocks to secure the pipes. (Tr. 93, 120.)

- Q. Was it your company's policy back at the time of this incident to use chocks or blocks to secure pipes?
- A. It would be our policy, yes.

ł

(Tr. 93.) Defendant Kittle Hauling trained its drivers that they should use chocks on their loads. (Tr.120.) It was the custom and practice in the trucking industry to chock loads of pipes so that the pipes would not shift during transportation. (Tr. 232-33.) In fact, it was the responsibility of the driver, Cecil Higgerson, to ensure that the load was secured. (Tr. 103, 105, 125, 188.) Cecil Higgerson conceded at trial that he had the responsibility to ensure that the load was properly secure before he drove off the premises. It was also his responsibility to make sure the load was secure so that it would not shift during transportation.

- Q. Do you agree that you as the commercial truck driver have to ensure that the load is properly secure before you take off?
- A. Yes, ma'am.

1

t

÷

- Q. And you also as the commercial truck driver have a responsibility to check the load and make sure that it has not shifted; is that correct?
- A. Yes, ma'am.
- Q. You've been trained how to properly and safety secure a load of pipes?
- A. Yes, ma'am.

(Tr. 188.) Troy Kittle conceded that the Defendants had the responsibility to determine how many pipes could safely fit on a Kittle trailer and that its drivers could refuse to transport a load if they felt it was improperly secured. (Tr. 119, 131.)

On the day of the accident, the evidence demonstrated that Kittle Hauling employees used a Kittle Hauling crane to load the pipes onto Kittle Hauling's trailer. Victor Betz, the Defendant's employee, testified:

- Q. What was your involvement with that job? What did you do?
- A. Operated a crane.
- Q. When you operated the crane, what was your -- what were you doing?
- A. I loaded some trailers.
- Q. And what did you do in relation to loading the trailers and the crane project?
- A. When you load a trailer, you pick something up off the ground and put it on the trailer.
- Q. Were you loading pipes onto the trailer?
- A. I loaded some, yes.

Q. If Mr. Higgerson said that you did, would you have any reason to dispute that?

A. No.

(Tr. 164-65.) Not only did Kittle Hauling employees help load the pipes onto the trailer, the Kittle Hauling employees also inspected the trailer to ensure chains and binders were put on properly. (Tr. 167.) Victor Betz testified that some Kittle Hauling drivers even assisted the Inland employees in putting the 4 X 4 wooden timbers between the layers of pipes. (Tr. 168-69.)

The evidence was undisputed that one of the main purposes of using chocks was to prevent the load of pipes from shifting during transportation. (Tr. 190, 243.) Every other load of pipe that had made it to Greenwood, Mississippi was chocked. (Tr. 383.) Claude Thomas, an Inland employee who was present at Greenwood when the accident happened, testified:

Q. Had other loads of pipe come in on truckloads that did not have chocks?

A. Every one that came in there had some chocks on it.

(Tr. 383.) Troy Kittle reluctantly conceded that the subject load of pipes should have been chocked. (Tr. 124.)

Finally, there was evidence presented that if the load of pipes had been properly secured, the pipes would not have shifted during transportation nor would the pipe had fallen after the binders and chains were removed. Again, Troy Kittle testified:

- Q. Do you admit that if this pipe, this load of pipe was properly and safety loaded, the pipes should not shift or fall once the chains and binders are removed?
- A. If they were safely load, yes.

J.

(Tr. 126.) Plaintiffs presented substantial evidence that the load of pipes had indeed shifted prior to their arrival in Greenwood, Mississippi. Shannon Earby, an Inland employee, testified that the load of pipes were leaning severely to the right when it arrived.

- Q. Let's talk about the load that came in that the pipe fell off of landing on Mr. Raines resulting in his death. Tell me what you remember as that when you first saw the truck?
- A. The truck come in, and we it was real close to quitting time. It was almost dark. And we all I remember us all commenting about how badly that the load was leaning to the right.
- Q Can you be more specific about which way right is?

r

ι

۰,

ı.

ι

1

ι

ŧ.

i.

A. What you would call a passenger side of a vehicle. I would say to the right of his truck.

(Tr. 400.) Dr. Charles Benedict, an expert who reconstructed the accident, testified that the pipes shifted during transportation as a result of them not being chocked. As a result of the shifting of the pipes and the lack of chocks, the pipe was able to roll off the truck once the chains and straps were removed. (Tr. 244-45.) Dr. Benedict's opinions are unchallenged in this appeal.

In light of the overwhelming evidence the Plaintiffs presented at trial on the issue of duty and the breach thereof, the trial court properly and correctly denied the Defendants' Motion for Directed Verdict. The trial court looked at all the testimony on behalf of the Plaintiffs and properly recognized that the reasonable inferences drawn from that testimony required the case to be submitted to a jury.

C. Any Error Made By The Trial Court In Its Jury Instruction Was Not Properly Preserved By The Defendants On Appeal.

Despite the abundance of evidence the Plaintiffs presented to the jury on the Defendants' duty and the breach thereof, Defendants make the strange argument that the trial court's failure to give specific jury instructions which identify the facts that support the duty owed to Michael Raines was actually <u>substantive evidence</u> that no duty existed and that they were entitled to a directed verdict. Yet, the Defendants did not object to the Court's jury instructions on duty. (Tr. 473-516.) They cite no law in their appellate brief to support their argument that a Court's failure to give a particular jury instruction can be considered as substantive evidence of the

Plaintiffs' alleged failure to prove a duty. The reason the Defendants cite no law for this proposition is because none exists. Instead, Mississippi law provides that jury instructions are not substantive evidence. "The statements of counsel are not evidence and neither are the instructions of the court which should only serve to guide the jury as to the applicable law." *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So. 2d 948, 954 ¶7 (Miss. 2003) (citations omitted). Because jury instructions are not evidence, they cannot serve as proof of the Defendants' argument that Plaintiff failed to present substantial evidence of a duty. Accordingly, the Defendants' argument must fail.

Further, the Defendants have waived any alleged error in the jury instructions. The Defendants failed to object to the jury instructions on duty. Since no objection was made, the issue was not properly preserved for appeal. "Where a party fails to make a proper, specific objection to allow the lower court to consider an issue, this Court will not normally entertain the assignment of error. This issue was not properly preserved for appeal." Dixie Ins. Co. v. Mooneyhan, 684 So. 2d 574, 589 ¶19 (Miss. 1996) (citations omitted). If the Defendants felt it was error for the trial court to not give more specific instructions on the duty they owed to Michael Raines, it was incumbent on them to voice their objections, which they failed to do. Dixie Insurance Company v. Mooneyhan, supra., is directly on point. There, Dixie argued that the jury instructions were "silent as to what acts on the part of Dixie might amount to 'a grossly negligent manner tantamount to intentional disregard for the rights of the Mooneyhans' and that no other jury instruction cures this error." Id. This Court rejected the defendant's argument and made clear that a defendant must object to jury instructions "on the grounds that specific facts alleged to amount to 'gross negligence' were not included in the instruction." Id. Because of the defendant's failure to make a specific objection, the issue was not preserved for appeal.

Here, the Defendants failed to make any objection to the Court's jury instructions on duty. In fact, they even concede that there was no error in the instructions. (Appellant's Brief at 36) As a result, this issue is not properly before this Court because it was not preserved for appeal.

Finally, there was no prejudicial error in the trial court's jury instructions that would necessitate a reversal. "All jury instructions must be read together, and if, taken as a whole, they correctly state the law, are not misleading, and adequately cover the issues supported by the evidence, there is no prejudicial error necessitating a reversal." *O'Flynn v. Owens-Corning Fiberglas*, 759 So. 2d 526, 531 ¶6 (Miss.App. 2000). "When so read, if the instructions fairly announce the law of the case and create no injustice, no reversible error will be found." *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So. 2d 948, 953 ¶4 (Miss. 2002). "The trial court will not be held to have erred unless the complaining party can show that the denial of the instruction probably did cause an improper judgment." *O'Flynn*, 759 So. 2d at 531 ¶6.

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